Iron and vegetarian diets

myoglobin formation and is vital for health and peak performance. Much of our iron requirement is met through recycling of the iron in red blood cells.¹ The amount of iron stored is carefully regulated by intestinal absorption, as we have a limited ability to excrete excess iron.²

Groups considered at risk of iron deficiency

ron is an essential nutrient for haemoglobin and

There are three levels of iron deficiency, in increasing order of severity: depleted iron stores, early functional iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia (Box 1). Iron deficiency limits oxygen delivery to cells, resulting in weakness, fatigue, reduced immunity, shortness of breath, sensitivity to cold, and heart palpitations. Iron deficiency anaemia in pregnant women can result in premature delivery, low birthweight in infants and higher infant mortality. Other symptoms include delayed psychomotor development in infants and impaired cognitive function.³

Iron deficiency is the most common nutritional deficiency in the world, affecting about 25% of the global population, particularly young women and children.⁴ At most risk are people who follow restricted diets. In developing countries this is usually due to a limited food supply, but in Western countries like Australia it is most commonly seen in young obese women who follow restricted energy diets to lose weight.⁵

Iron deficiency is not always caused by inadequate dietary intake, but may result from various medical conditions. Dialysis treatment in people with chronic renal failure can lead to loss of iron; gastrointestinal inflammation (eg, in Crohn's disease or coeliac disease) may impair iron absorption; and gastrointestinal blood loss (eg, associated with colorectal cancer, aspirin use or genitourinary diseases) may cause iron deficiency, particularly in older people. Excessive intake of zinc (due to zinc supplementation) may also impair iron absorption.³

It is commonly thought that vegetarians (people who exclude meat, poultry and seafood from their diet, but include dairy foods and/or eggs) and vegans (those who exclude all animal products) may be more prone to iron deficiency. Additional concerns about vegetarian diets include lower bioavailability of iron from plant sources (relative to animal sources) due to dietary inhibitors such as phytate in plants. In this article we consider (i) whether plant-based vegetarian diets can provide enough iron from non-meat sources to prevent iron deficiency; (ii) factors that affect how much iron we absorb; and (iii) whether the higher recommended dietary intake (RDI) of iron for vegetarians in the 2006 revised *Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary intake*⁶ is warranted.

Types and best sources of iron

There are two types of iron in food: haem and non-haem iron. In animal products, 40% of the total iron content is

Summary

- Vegetarians who eat a varied and well balanced diet are not at any greater risk of iron deficiency anaemia than non-vegetarians.
- A diet rich in wholegrains, legumes, nuts, seeds, dried fruits, iron-fortified cereals and green leafy vegetables provides an adequate iron intake.
- Vitamin C and other organic acids enhance non-haem iron absorption, a process that is carefully regulated by the gut.
- People with low iron stores or higher physiological need for iron will tend to absorb more iron and excrete less.
- Research to date on iron absorption has not been designed to accurately measure absorption rates in typical Western vegetarians with low ferritin levels.

haem iron and 60% non-haem iron.⁷ Haem iron provides 10%–15% of total iron in meat-eating populations, but because of its higher and more uniform absorption (estimated at 15%–35%), haem iron could contribute at least 40% of all iron absorbed.⁸ Plant foods contain only non-haem iron, which is found naturally in wholegrain cereals and breads; dried beans and legumes; dark green leafy vegetables; dried fruits; and nuts and seeds. Many breakfast cereals and some breads are also fortified with iron.

Even for non-vegetarians, most iron in the Australian diet comes from plant foods rather than meat. Less than 20% of iron intake comes from meat and meat products and about 40% comes from cereals and cereal products.⁹ The same is true in the United Kingdom, where 45% of dietary iron comes from cereals and cereal products and less than 20% comes from meat and meat products.¹⁰ Iron-fortified cereals make an important contribution to iron intake in both vegetarian and non-vegetarian meal plans, particularly in energy-restricted diets.⁵ RDIs for iron have been set based on the assumption that a substantial



Angela V Saunders BS(Dietetics),

MA(Ldshp&Mgmt-HS), APD, Senior Dietitian, Science and Advocacy¹

Winston J Craig PhD, RD, Professor of Nutrition²

Surinder K Baines BSc(Hons), APD, PhD, Senior Lecturer, Nutrition and Dietetics³

Jennifer S Posen MB BS, FRACP, FRCPA, Clinical Haematologist and Pathology Haematologist⁴

> Corporate Nutrition, Sanitarium Health and Wellbeing, Berkeley Vale, NSW.
> Nutrition and Wellness Department, Andrews University, Berrien Springs, Mich, USA
> School of Health Sciences, University

Newcastle, NSW. 4 Sydney Adventist Hospital, Sydney, NSW.

of Newcastle

angela.saunders@ sanitarium.com.au

MJA Open 2012; 1 Suppl 2: 11–16 doi: 10.5694/mjao11.11494

1 Three levels of iron deficiency*

There are three levels of iron deficiency commonly used to evaluate iron status:

Depleted iron stores

Depleted iron stores are indicated by a serum ferritin level of <12-15 μ g/L,[†] but no apparent limitation in iron supply. An increased total iron binding capacity (TIBC) indicates depletion of iron stores, but is a less precise measure than ferritin level. • Serum ferritin concentration <12 μ g/L

TIBC > 400 µg/dL

Early functional iron deficiency

In early functional iron deficiency, iron supply to the bone marrow and other tissues is suboptimal, but there is no decrease in haemoglobin level and therefore no anaemia.

• Transferrin saturation < 16%

Iron deficiency anaemia

In iron deficiency anaemia, there is a measurable deficit in erythrocytes, the most accessible functional compartment.

Haemoglobin concentration <135g/L (male); <115g/L (female)
 Mean cell volume <80 fl

* Adapted from United States Institute of Medicine Panel on Micronutrients.³ \uparrow <12 µg/L in US; <15 µg/L in Australia.

amount of iron will come from non-meat sources. The iron content per 100 g of commonly available plant and animal foods is shown in Box 2. The iron content of plant sources of iron per common serve size is shown in Box 3.

Iron stores: regulation, adaptation and impact on absorption

The amount of non-haem iron absorbed is primarily determined by the body's need for iron — people with the lowest iron stores will absorb more and excrete less.^{8,13} Humans can adapt successfully to a wide range of iron requirements and intakes.¹⁴ If iron intake is low, vegetarians adapt by excreting less faecal ferritin. In pregnant women, who need the most iron, absorption can increase by 60% relative to normal.^{15,16} Non-haem iron is nearly as well absorbed as haem iron by people with very low iron stores.¹³ There is apparently no advantage in storing more than a minimal amount of iron.¹⁷ RDIs for iron are set with the goal of maintaining serum ferritin levels at 15 µg/L or functional adequacy.³

Haem iron and non-haem iron are both absorbed in the small intestine, but via different mechanisms. Haem iron is absorbed through the gut wall intact, regardless of how much we need.¹⁸ Non-haem iron absorption is more carefully controlled, as it is more readily absorbed when the body has need for iron — a protective measure for iron overload.¹³ This sensitivity is vital, as the body has limited mechanisms for excreting excess iron: shedding skin, sloughing off of mucosal cells in the intestinal and urinary tracts, loss of hair, and menstruation.

Bioavailability of iron: inhibitors and enhancers

Non-haem iron bioavailability is influenced by various dietary components that either enhance or inhibit its absorption. The efficiency of non-haem iron absorption in people with low iron stores depends on these enhancing and inhibiting food constituents being consumed concurrently.¹³ Although inhibitors and enhancers may

2 Iron content of commonly available plant and animal foods*

Foods	Iron per 100 g
Plant foods	
Iron-fortified breakfast cereals	4.0-16.0 mg
Pumpkin seeds/pepitas	10.0 mg
Iron-fortified bread	7.1mg
Sundried tomatoes	5.6mg
Sesame seeds/tahini paste	5.2mg
Cashew nuts	5.0 mg
Mixed-grain bread roll	4.7mg
English spinach, raw	3.5mg
Dried apricots	3.1mg
Tofu, firm	2.9mg
Fortified malted chocolate beverage, with whole milk	2.7mg
Dried dates	2.6mg
Lentils/soybeans/kidney beans	1.8-2.2mg
Amaranth, cooked	2.1mg
Tofu, silken/soft	1.8mg
Quinoa, cooked	1.5mg
Figs, dried	1.4mg
Baked beans	1.0mg
Animal foods	
Liver, chicken/beef/veal	6.0-11.0mg
Kangaroo, fillet, grilled	4.1mg
Beef, round steak, grilled	3.3mg
Lamb chop, grilled	2.9mg
Beef, sirloin steak, grilled	2.2mg
Beef, fillet, lean, grilled	2.2mg
Egg, whole, boiled	1.6mg
Salmon, Atlantic, grilled	1.3mg
Pork fillets, trimmed	1.0mg
Turkey breast, baked	0.6mg
Chicken breast, baked	0.5mg
Bream/flathead, grilled	0.4mg
Cheese, cheddar	0.2mg
Milk, whole	0.04mg
* From Food Standards Australia New Zealand NI ITT	AB 2010 opline

* From Food Standards Australia New Zealand. NUTTAB 2010 online searchable database.¹¹

cancel each other out, particularly in a diet that includes a wide variety of foods,¹⁹ it is wise to be aware of their possible effects until more is known about their full impact.

The main inhibitor of non-haem iron absorption is phytate, or phytic acid, which is usually found in legumes, nuts, wholegrain cereals and unprocessed bran. Processing the wholegrain removes much of the phytate content, but also removes other beneficial nutrients such as iron and zinc. Soaking and sprouting legumes, grains and seeds reduces phytate levels, as does leavening of bread.²⁰ Phytic acid may actually provide health benefits as a potent antioxidant, reducing the risk of several chronic diseases, including various forms of cancer.²⁰⁻²² Other inhibitors of non-haem iron absorption include polyphenol-containing beverages such as tea (including herbal teas), coffee, cocoa and red wines.²³

3 Plant sources of iron per common serve*

Source	lron per serve
Amaranth grain, cooked, 1 cup	5.2 mg
Iron-fortified bread, 2 slices	4.2 mg
Lentils, dried peas or beans, cooked, 1 cup	3.8 mg
Iron-fortified breakfast cereals, average serve	1.2–3.0mg
Tofu, firm, 1/2 cup (100 g)	2.9 mg
Quinoa, cooked, 1 cup	2.8 mg
Cashews, 25 nuts (50 g)	2.6 mg
Tempeh (fermented soybean), cooked, 100 g †	2.2 mg
Fortified yeast spread, 5 g	1.8 mg
Baked beans, 1/2 cup (140g)	1.8 mg
Soybeans, 1/2 cup (90 g)	1.8 mg
Dried apricots, 10 halves (50 g)	1.6 mg
Rolled oats, cooked, 1 cup	1.3 mg
Fortified malted chocolate beverage, 1 tsp (5g)	1.3 mg
Almonds, dry roasted, 20–25 nuts (30 g)	l.1 mg
Brown rice, 1 cup	1.0 mg
Wheatgerm, 1 tbsp (10 g)	1.0 mg
Broccoli, cooked, 1/2 cup (100 g)	1.0 mg

tbsp = tablespoon. tsp = teaspoon. *From Food Standards Australia New Zealand. AUSNUT 2007 online searchable database.¹² † Source: product information.

While some studies have found that oxalic acid (present in spinach, silverbeet and beetroot leaves) may inhibit iron absorption, recent studies suggest that its effects are relatively insignificant.²⁴ Calcium has also been considered an inhibitor of both haem and non-haem iron absorption, but recent research suggests that, over a long period of time, calcium has a limited effect on iron absorption (possibly due to an adaptive physiological response).²⁵ Nevertheless, it may be best to avoid consuming highcalcium supplements with meals.²⁶

The most significant enhancer of iron absorption is vitamin C (both synthetic and dietary), which can enhance absorption up to sixfold in those who have low iron stores,²⁷ overcoming the effects of phytic acid, polyphenols, calcium and milk proteins.^{3,8,28,29} Absorption is increased as much as three- to sixfold with the addition of 50 mg of vitamin C per meal.³⁰ Vitamin C facilitates the

conversion of Fe^{3+} (ferric) to Fe^{2+} (ferrous) iron, the form in which iron is best absorbed. Vegetarians typically have high intakes of vitamin C from a wide variety of fruit and vegetables. Meals rich in vitamin C may have no effect on serum ferritin levels if iron stores are already elevated.³¹

Other organic acids (citric, malic and lactic acids),³² as well as vitamin A and β -carotene, enhance non-haem iron absorption.³³ An ascorbic acid derivative, erythorbic acid (E315), used widely as an antioxidant in processed foods, appears to be almost twice as effective as ascorbic acid in enhancing non-haem iron absorption.³⁴

Meat also enhances non-haem iron absorption, but animal proteins (milk protein, egg proteins and albumin) inhibit iron absorption.⁷ It was previously thought that soy protein also had an inhibitory effect on iron absorption,³⁵ but new research shows that iron in soy is in the form of ferritin and is highly available. It has no negative effect on iron status,^{36,37} and is as well absorbed as iron from ferrous sulfate.³⁸

Estimating how much iron we absorb

The amount of total iron available from a mixed diet (including meat) is estimated at 18%, whereas the amount of total (non-haem) iron available from a vegetarian diet is considered to be about 10%.³ Estimates of iron absorption rates are based on short-term and single-meal studies (meals high in inhibitors) that are usually carried out in people with adequate iron stores. In such people, iron absorption will have been down-regulated and is unlikely to accurately reflect absorption over the long term. Single-meal studies do not allow for intestinal adaptation involving increased absorption and decreased losses.³⁹ For a more accurate estimate of iron absorption in vegetarian diets, studies need to be done on vegetarians (with the usual low ferritin levels) who eat more typical vegetarian diets.

Some researchers state that concerns over non-haem iron bioavailability and the effect of enhancers and inhibitors are less important than previously thought,^{19,28,39,40} and that iron absorption is underestimated.⁴¹ In fact, researchers report that iron status is more important than bioavailability in determining the amount of non-haem iron absorbed^{8,13,42} and that, in women, menstrual blood loss (rather than dietary composition) is the major determinant of iron stores.⁴²

4 Estimated average requirement (EAR)* and recommended dietary intake (RDI)[†] of iron per day, by sex and age group⁶

	Male			Female		Pregnant women		Lactating women				
Age (years)	EAR	RDI	180% of RDI	EAR	RDI	180% of RDI	EAR	RDI	180% of RDI	EAR	RDI	180% of RDI
1-3	4mg	9mg	16.2mg	4mg	9mg	16.2mg	—	—	—	—	—	—
4-8	4mg	10 mg	18mg	4mg	10mg	18mg	—	—	—	—	—	-
9-13	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	—	—	—	—	—	
14-18	8mg	llmg	19.8mg	8mg	15mg	27mg	23mg	27mg	48.6mg	7mg	10mg	18mg
19-30	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	8mg	18mg	32.4mg	22mg	27mg	48.6 mg	6.5mg	9mg	16mg
31-50	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	8mg	18mg	32.4mg	22mg	27mg	48.6mg	6.5mg	9mg	16mg
51-70	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	5mg	8mg	14.4mg	—	—	—	—	—	-
>70	6mg	8mg	14.4mg	5mg	8mg	14.4mg	—	—	—	—	—	—

* The EAR is a daily nutrient level estimated to meet the requirements of half the healthy individuals of a particular sex and life stage. † The RDI is the average daily dietary intake level that is sufficient to meet the nutrient requirements of nearly all healthy individuals (97%–98%) of a particular sex and life stage.



5 A sample meal plan designed to meet the iron requirements of a 19–50-year-old vegetarian woman, showing non-haem iron content of the foods*

Meal	Iron conter
Breakfast	
Bowl of cereal with fruit, and poached egg on toast	
2 fortified wholegrain wheat biscuits	3.0 mg
4 strawberries	0.3 mg
10 g chia seeds	0.7 m;
1/2 cup low-fat fortified soy milk	0.7 mg
l slice multigrain toast and l teaspoon olive oil spread	0.8 mg
l poached egg	1.0 mg
Snack	
Nuts and dried fruit	
30 g cashews	1.5 m;
6 dried apricot halves	0.7 m;
Lunch	
Chickpea falafel wrap	
1 wholemeal pita flatbread	2.0 m
1 chickpea falafel	2.9 m;
30 g hummus	0.8 m;
1/2 cup tabouli	1.6 mg
Salad	0.3 m;
Snack	
Banana and wheatgerm smoothie	
3/4 cup low-fat fortified soy milk	1.0 m;
l teaspoon wheatgerm	0.3 m;
l banana	0.4 m;
Dinner	
Stir-fry greens with tofu and rice	
100 g tofu	7.9 m;
2 spears asparagus, 1/3 cup bok choy and 25 g snow peas	1.3mg
12 g cashews	0.6 m;
l cup cooked brown rice	1.0 m
Snack	
Fortified malted chocolate beverage	
1 cup low-fat fortified soy milk	1.3 m;
10 g fortified malted chocolate powder	2.5mg
Total iron	32.6 m

Zealand's AUSNUT [Australian Food and Nutrient Database] 1999), Xyris Software, Brisbane, Qld.

Are vegetarians at risk of iron deficiency?

Vegetarian and vegan diets generally contain just as much or more iron than mixed diets containing meat.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ The 2003 UK National Diet and Nutrition Survey⁴⁶ showed that a vegetarian diet was not associated with lower-thanaverage total iron intake^{47,48} and that there was little association between indicators of iron status and dietary iron intake.⁴² Compared with meat-eaters, vegetarians may often have lower serum ferritin levels (although still within the normal range), even when their iron intakes are adequate,^{44,49-51} but the physiological impact of reduced ferritin levels in vegetarians is unknown at this time. Vegetarians may reduce their risk of low iron levels by eating foods rich in enhancers, such as vitamin C and organic acids.⁴⁷

In Western countries like Australia, where we enjoy a varied food supply, vegetarians are no more likely to suffer from iron deficiency anaemia than non-vegetarians.¹³ Low iron stores, without iron deficiency anaemia, have not been shown to adversely affect function.¹³ Iron deficiency clearly impairs function only when haemoglobin concentrations are measurably decreased, but this has not been shown across all studies.^{13,15} In the large European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Oxford study of 43000 women, vegetarians and non-vegetarians had similar iron intakes and haemoglobin concentrations.44 Many studies in Western societies suggest there is little difference, if any, in iron status (measured by haemoglobin levels, haematocrit, total ironbinding capacity, transferrin saturation and serum iron levels) between vegetarians and non-vegetarians,^{15,52} but a number of studies suggest that vegetarians are at greater risk of having low iron stores (as reflected by serum ferritin).15

Higher iron requirement for vegetarians — is it justified?

The current Australian RDI for iron is based on research by the United States/Canadian Institute of Medicine (IOM). which recommends for the first time that the iron requirement for vegetarians be 1.8 times that of the regular RDI.⁶ Interestingly, the UK Food Standards Agency has not set a higher iron requirement for vegetarians.⁵³ Although the research is far from conclusive, the IOM's dietary reference intake committee appears to have used a single 1991 study¹⁹ to justify the 80% greater iron requirement for vegetarians.³ This is of questionable validity, as the study was not looking at a typical Western vegetarian diet, but rather at a diet that was specifically designed to reduce the absorption of non-haem iron and was only marginally "vegetarian", as it contained limited amounts of fruits and vegetables. One study group was given meals that were designed to maximally enhance non-haem iron absorption (meals included meat and vitamin C-rich fruits and vegetables). Another group was given meals designed to maximally inhibit non-haem iron absorption (meals excluded meat and vitamin C-rich fruits and vegetables but included foods and beverages high in inhibitors). The IOM committee based its recommended iron requirement for vegetarians on the latter group. This

same study concluded that iron bioavailability issues (enhancers and inhibitors) are less important than has been traditionally thought over the long term.¹⁹

Current (2006) RDIs for iron⁶ are shown in Box 4. The current RDI for non-vegetarian women aged 19–50 years (18 mg/day) is slightly higher than the previous (1991) RDI (16 mg/day).⁵⁴ The current estimated average requirement (EAR) for iron for these women (ie, the daily nutrient level estimated to meet the requirements of half the healthy women in this group) of 8 mg/day, as compared with the RDI, reflects the very high variability in iron requirements among women because of significant differences in menstrual loss.⁶ For premenopausal women, blood loss through menstruation is the most significant factor affecting iron status, while dietary composition appears largely unrelated to iron status.⁵⁵ A number of studies have reported an association between the length of menstrual periods and serum ferritin concentrations.⁵⁶

The higher RDIs for pregnant women (Box 4) ensure an adequate supply of iron to the fetus and developing infant. During pregnancy, iron absorption increases from 7% at 12 weeks to 36% at 24 weeks and 59% at 36 weeks.¹⁶ The UK Food Standards Agency has not set higher iron requirements for pregnant women, assuming that existing body iron stores (if adequate at conception) will provide what is required, given that menstruation has ceased and intestinal absorption has increased.⁵³

As iron absorption is substantially greater when the body has a need, as in the case of pregnancy, it seems reasonable to assume that the bioavailability of iron from vitamin C-enhanced vegetarian meals will be considerably greater when the long-term vegetarian has an increased need for iron (as shown by a low ferritin level). Thus it is pertinent to ask whether it is really necessary to recommend a higher iron requirement for vegetarians when adaptive processes respond to lower iron stores. Future research with long-term vegetarians eating more typical vegetarian meals over a period of time (rather than examining responses relating to a single meal) would be valuable in addressing this issue.

There is a higher prevalence of iron deficiency in obese people, possibly due to inadequate iron intake or a higher blood volume. Chronic inflammation in obese people is associated with higher levels of hepcidin, which down-regulates intestinal iron absorption. Serum ferritin is not considered a good indicator of iron status in obese people, as serum ferritin levels are elevated by inflammation.^{5,57}

A sample meal plan appropriate for 19–50-year-old lacto-ovo-vegetarian women, who have the highest iron requirements of any group other than pregnant vegetarian women, is shown in Box 5. The sample meal plan also meets the requirements for other key nutrients (except vitamin D and long-chain omega-3 fatty acids). For more details on meeting nutrient reference values on a vegetarian diet, as well as other sample meal plans, see the article by Reid and colleagues (*page 33*).⁵⁸

Conclusion

Well planned vegetarian diets provide adequate amounts of non-haem iron if a wide variety of plant foods are regularly consumed. Research studies indicate that vegetarians are no more likely to have iron deficiency anaemia than non-vegetarians. Vegetarian diets are typically rich in vitamin C and other factors that facilitate non-haem iron absorption. The limited iron absorption studies conducted to date have not yet clarified how much iron Western vegetarians require daily. Research studies, which have been used to set official RDIs, have not taken into account long-term adaptive mechanisms, such as increased absorption and reduced excretion when iron stores are low, or during times of increased physiological need.

Competing interests: Angela Saunders is employed by Sanitarium Health and Wellbeing, sponsor of this supplement.

Provenance: Commissioned by supplement editors; externally peer reviewed.

- 1 Samman S. Iron. Nutr Diet 2007; 64 Suppl 4: S126-S130. doi: 10.1111/ j.1747-0080.2007.00199.x.
- 2 Frazer DM, Anderson GJ, Ramm GA, et al. How much iron is too much? Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 2: 287-290.
- 3 Food and Nutrition Board and Institute of Medicine. Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001. http://www.nap. edu/openbook.php?record_id=10026&page=R1 (accessed Apr 2012).
- 4 de Benoist B, McLean E, Egli I, Cogswell M, editors. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia 1993-2005: WHO global database on anaemia. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2008. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ publications/2008/9789241596657_eng.pdf (accessed Mar 2012).
- 5 O'Connor H, Munas Z, Griffin H, et al. Nutritional adequacy of energy restricted diets for young obese women. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2011; 20: 206-211.
- 6 National Health and Medical Research Council and New Zealand Ministry of Health. Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand including recommended dietary intakes. Canberra: NHMRC, 2006. http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines/publications/n35-n36-n37 (accessed Apr 2012).
- 7 Beard JL, Dawson H, Piñero DJ. Iron metabolism: a comprehensive review. Nutr Rev 1996; 54: 295-317.
- 8 Hurrell R, Egli I. Iron bioavailability and dietary reference values. Am J Clin Nutr 2010; 91: 1461S-1467S.
- 9 Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Nutrition Survey: nutrient intakes and physical measurements Australia 1995. Canberra: ABS, 1998. (ABS Cat. No. 4805.0.) http://www.ausstats.abs.gov.au/ ausstats/subscriber.nsf/0/CA25687100069892CA25688900268A6D/ \$File/48050_1995.pdf (accessed Apr 2012).
- 10 Food Standards Agency. National Diet and Nutrition Survey: adults aged 19 to 64 years: vitamin and mineral intake and urinary analytes. Volume 3. London: TSO, 2003. http://www.food.gov.uk/multimedia/ pdfs/ndnsv3.pdf (accessed May 2012).
- II Food Standards Australia New Zealand. NUTTAB 2010 online searchable database. http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ consumerinforma tion/nuttab2010/nuttab2010onlinesearchable database/online version.cfm (accessed Jun 2011).
- 12 Food Standards Australia New Zealand. AUSNUT 2007 Microsoft Excel files (online searchable database). http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/ consumer information/ausnut2007/ausnut2007microsofte4060.cfm (accessed Jun 2011).
- 13 Hunt JR. Bioavailability of iron, zinc, and other trace minerals from vegetarian diets. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78 (3 Suppl): 633S-639S.
- 14 Cook JD. Adaptation in iron metabolism. Am J Clin Nutr 1990; 51: 301-308.
- 15 Hunt JR, Roughead ZK. Nonheme-iron absorption, fecal ferritin excretion, and blood indexes of iron status in women consuming controlled lactoovovegetarian diets for 8 wk. Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 69: 944-952.
- 16 Whittaker PG, Barrett JF, Lind T. The erythrocyte incorporation of absorbed non-haem iron in pregnant women. Br J Nutr 2001; 86: 323-329.
- 17 Siimes MA, Refino C, Dallman PR. Manifestation of iron deficiency at various levels of dietary iron intake. Am J Clin Nutr 1980; 33: 570-574.
- 18 Geissler C, Powers H. Human nutrition. 11th ed. Edinburgh; New York: Elsevier/Churchill Livingstone, 2005.
 19 Cook JD, Dassenko SA, Lynch SR. Assessment of the role of nonheme-
- ion availability in ion balance. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1991; 54: 717-722.
 Harland BF, Morris ER. Phytate: a good or bad food component?
- Nutr Res 1995; 15: 733-754. doi: 10.1016/0271-5317(95)00040-P.

 21 Slavin JL. Mechanisms for the impact of whole grain foods on cancer
- 21 Stavin JL. Mechanisms for the impact of whole grain roots of carcel risk. J Am Coll Nutr 2000; 19 (3 Suppl): 3005-3075.
- 22 Fox CH, Eberl M. Phytic acid (IP6), novel broad spectrum anti-neoplastic agent: a systematic review. Complement Ther Med 2002; 10: 229-234.

- 23 Hurrell RF, Reddy M, Cook JD. Inhibition of non-haem iron absorption in man by polyphenolic-containing beverages. Br J Nutr 1999; 81: 289-295.
- 24 genannt Bonsmann SS, Walczyk T, Renggli S, Hurrell RF. Oxalic acid does not influence nonhaem iron absorption in humans: a comparison of kale and spinach meals. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2008; 62: 336-341.
- **25** Mølgaard C, Kaestel P, Michaelsen KF. Long-term calcium supplementation does not affect the iron status of 12–14-y-old girls. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 82: 98-102.
- 26 Mangels R, Messina V, Messina M. The dietitian's guide to vegetarian diets: issues and applications. 3rd ed. Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Learning, 2011.
- 27 Hallberg L. Bioavailability of dietary iron in man. Annu Rev Nutr 1981; 1: 123-147.
- 28 Hallberg L, Hulthén L. Prediction of dietary iron absorption: an algorithm for calculating absorption and bioavailability of dietary iron. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 71: 1147-1160.
- 29 Davidsson L. Approaches to improve iron bioavailability from complementary foods. J Nutr 2003; 133 (5 Suppl 1): 1560S-1562S.
- 30 Allen LH, Ahluwalia N. Improving iron status through diet. The application of knowledge concerning dietary iron bioavailability in human populations. Arlington, VA: John Snow/OMNI, 1997.
- 31 Hunt JR. High-, but not low-bioavailability diets enable substantial control of women's iron absorption in relation to body iron stores, with minimal adaptation within several weeks. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78: 1168-1177.
- 32 Gillooly M, Bothwell TH, Torrance JD, et al. The effects of organic acids, phytates and polyphenols on the absorption of iron from vegetables. Br J Nutr 1983; 49: 331-342.
- **33** García-Casal MN, Layrisse M, Solano L, et al. Vitamin A and betacarotene can improve nonheme iron absorption from rice, wheat and corn by humans. *J Nutr* 1998; 128: 646-650.
- 34 Fidler MC, Davidsson L, Zeder C, Hurrell RF. Erythorbic acid is a potent enhancer of nonheme-iron absorption. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 79: 99-102.
- 35 Hurrell RF, Juillerat MA, Reddy MB, et al. Soy protein, phytate, and iron absorption in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 1992; 56: 573-578.
- 36 Murray-Kolb LE, Welch R, Theil EC, Beard JL. Women with low iron stores absorb iron from soybeans. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 77: 180-184.
- 37 Zhou Y, Alekel DL, Dixon PM, et al. The effect of soy food intake on mineral status in premenopausal women. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2011; 20: 771-780.
- **38** Lönnerdal B. Soybean ferritin: implications for iron status of vegetarians. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2009; 89: 1680S-1685S.
- **39** Hunt JR, Roughead ZK. Adaptation of iron absorption in men consuming diets with high or low iron bioavailability. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2000; 71: 94-102.
- 40 Reddy MB, Hurrell RF, Cook JD. Estimation of nonheme-iron bioavailability from meal composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 71: 937-943.

- **41** Beard JL, Murray-Kolb LE, Haas JD, Lawrence F. Iron absorption prediction equations lack agreement and underestimate iron absorption. *J Nutr* 2007; 137: 1741-1746.
- 42 Singh M, Sanderson P, Hurrell RF, et al. Iron bioavailability: UK Food Standards Agency workshop report. Br J Nutr 2006; 96: 985-990.
- **43** Calkins BM, Whittaker DJ, Nair PP, et al. Diet, nutrition intake, and metabolism in populations at high and low risk for colon cancer: nutrient intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1984; 40 (4 Suppl): 896-905.
- 44 Davey GK, Spencer EA, Appleby PN, et al. EPIC Oxford: lifestyle characteristics and nutrient intakes in a cohort of 33 883 meat-eaters and 31 546 non meat-eaters in the UK. *Public Health Nutr* 2003; 6: 259-269.
- **45** Craig WJ, Mangels AR. Position of the American Dietetic Association: vegetarian diets. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2009; 109: 1266-1282.
- 46 Gregory J, Lowe S, Bates CJ, et al. National Diet and Nutrition Survey: young people aged 4 to 18 years. Vol. 1. Report of the diet and nutrition survey. London: The Stationery Office, 2000.
- 47 Thane CW, Bates CJ, Prentice A. Risk factors for low iron intake and poor iron status in a national sample of British young people aged 4–18 years. Public Health Nutr 2003; 6: 485-496.
- 48 Thane CW, Bates CJ. Dietary intakes and nutrient status of vegetarian preschool children from a British national survey. J Hum Nutr Diet 2000; 13: 149-162.
- 49 Wilson AK, Ball MJ. Nutrient intake and iron status of Australian male vegetarians. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1999; 53: 189-194.
- 50 Ball MJ, Bartlett MA. Dietary intake and iron status of Australian vegetarian women. Am J Clin Nutr 1999; 70: 353-358.
- 51 Alexander D, Ball MJ, Mann J. Nutrient intake and haematological status of vegetarians and age-sex matched omnivores. Eur J Clin Nutr 1994; 48: 538-546.
- 52 Obeid R, Geisel J, Schorr H, et al. The impact of vegetarianism on some haematological parameters. *Eur J Haematol* 2002; 69: 275-279.
- 53 Food Standards Agency. Safe upper levels for vitamins and minerals: report of the expert group on vitamins and minerals. London: FSA, 2003. http://cot.food.gov.uk/pdfs/vitmin2003.pdf (accessed Mar 2012).
- 54 National Health and Medical Research Council. Recommended dietary intakes for use in Australia. Canberra: NHMRC, 1991. http:// www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines/publications/n6 (accessed May 2012).
- 55 Harvey LJ, Armah CN, Dainty JR, et al. Impact of menstrual blood loss and diet on iron deficiency among women in the UK. Br J Nutr 2005; 94: 557-564.
- 56 Galán P, Hercberg S, Soustre Y, et al. Factors affecting iron stores in French female students. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr 1985; 39: 279-287.
- 57 Cepeda-Lopez AC, Aeberli I, Zimmermann MB. Does obesity increase risk for iron deficiency? A review of the literature and the potential mechanisms. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 2010; 80: 263-270.
- 58 Reid MA, Marsh KA, Zeuschner CL, et al. Meeting the nutrient reference values on a vegetarian diet. MJA Open 2012; 1 Suppl 2: 33-40.

